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One of the most famous landmarks in Little Rock and pivotal structures in
the district is known as the Pike-Fletcher-Terry House (Photo #1). Entered
on the National Register of Historic Places in 1972, the Greek Revival
structure was constructed in 1840 for General Albert Pike. The house has
functioned as a residence all but about twenty vears of its existence.
During the 1870's and 1880's it was used as the fashionable Arkansas
Female College. The full width of the north elevation of the house is
marked by a two-storey portico supported by six large Ionic-style columns.
The oxiginal low-hip roof was replaced with the present high-hipped

rocf with dormers in the latter part of the 19th century. Because the
Pike-Fletcher-Terry House is a significant structure both historically
and architecturally, it commands as much widespread interest as any other
structure in the state.

Another outstanding example of Greek Revival architecture in the district
is Trapnall Hall (Photo #2). Built in 1843 by Frederick Trapnall, an
influential lawyer from Kentucky, the house has always been noted as a
center of hospitality. Trapnall Hall is a one-storey, five-bay main
structure with one side wing {(on the east elevation) plus a three-hay
portico centered on the main structure with a closed-in,shed-roofed
extension across the rear of the side wing. The exterior walls of the
house are so0lid brick, three bricks thick. The interior walls on either
side of the wide center hall are also of solid brick construction. In
1929 the property was given as a memorial to the Junidér League of Little
Rock who restored the structure to its original elegance. In February,
1976, Trapnall Hall was given to the state to serve as the official
Governor's Reception Hall. It is now being maintained and operated for
all citizens' use.

Constructed in 1842, Curran Hall (Photo #3) is also an ouvtstanding example
of Greek Revival architecture. Reportedly designed by the noted Greek-
Revival architect, Gideon Shryock, Curran Hall possesses the delicate
symmetry typical of his style. A small, central portico, covered with a
low, hipped roof and bracked by four sguared Doric Columns and two Doric
pilasters, marks the north elevation of the brick structure. A low,
hipped roof covers the structure.

In 1840 a lawyer and successful land speculator built a brick residence
in the center of two blocks of land on Fast Sixth Street. Constructed
according to Absalom Fowler's own design, the house reflects the classic
designs of Thomas Jefferson. The Absalom Fowler House (Photo #4) has
many unusual features some of which are a wide hall which runs across
the front of the house rather than through the center and an attached
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west wing which housed the kitchen and the servant quarters, in place of
the traditicnal outbuildings. The two-storey structure features a one-
storey portico on the north elevation supported by Ionic columns. The
Absalom Fowler House is now the property of the Catholic Diocese of
Little Rock and is used as a nursery school.

Four additional antebellum structures in the MacArthur Park Historic
District are located in the vicinity of the abowve described antebellum
structures. Located at 605 East Sixth Street, the Cook House (Photo #5)
appears typical of antebellum Greek Revival architecture. The frame,
one-storey structure is characterized by the symmetry and simplicity
definitive of the style. A flat-rcofed portico supported by Doric-
capital columns and pilasters marks the north elevation of the house.

The Geyer House {Photo #6) at 523 East Seventh Street was constructed

ca. 1850. This one-storey, frame structure features a flat-roofed portico
supported by Doric—capital posts set into brick bases. ILocated further
southward at 516 East Ninth Street (Photo #7) is a one-storey, hip-roofed, frame
structure with portice. fThis structure differs in having two single-door
entries on the facade (south elevation). Located at 417 East Tenth Street,
the Kadel Cottage {(Photo #8) was constructed ca. 1852. The one-storey
hip-roof structure features a bracketed cornice around the entire house.

A hip-roof portico supported by Doric-capital columns marks the north
elevation of the frame structure.

Another pivotal structure in the MacArthur Park Historic District is the
0ld Arsenal (Photo #9), located in MacArthur Park. Construction completed
in 1840, the 014 Arsenal is a two-storey, brick, rectangular structure
with a full basement. A three-storey, crenellated tower, octagonal in
shape and 25 feet in diameter, is located at the center of the north
elevation of the building. Richard B. lLee, a Virginia architect, designed
the Federal Style building. John Wormley Walker was the master-builder

in charge of construction. A wood veranda rung the full length of the
first f£loor on the south elevation, the roof being supported by wood
columns. A two-storey veranda runs aldng the north elevation from the
ends of the building, terminating at .the octagonal tower in the center

of the structure. Virtually all alterations have been to the wooden,
exterior portions of the building. Some balustrades have been removed
from the first floor verandas and new exterior stairways to the central
door of the octagonal tower have been installed. Restoration work on

the building wa; begun in 1942 and completed in 1958 by the City of
Little Rock. The building now houses the Museum of Science and

Natural History.
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The Garland-Mitchell House {Photo #10),built in 1873, is a Second Empire
Stvle galleried house which is sometimes referred to as a "Steamboat
Gothic" structure. The dominant feature of the two-storey frame structure
is a two-storey, ell-shaped gallery which covers most of the east facade
and north elevation. Square-cut posts with curved brackets are used for
support on both the first and second storeys. The ground-floor porch
railing has turned balusters while the second storey has a continuous band
of open cut woodwork beneath the porch railing. The Garland-Mitchell
House is covered in clapboard with bracket-topped pilasters at each corner.
Continuous around the structure is a bracketed cornice and frieze with
dentil~1ike trim. The truncated hip roof of the main structure and the
gable roof of the kitchen wing are covered with wide panels of red tin.
The residential structure has recently been painted its orlglnal colors of
cream with gray trim.

Built in 1881, the Villa Marre (Photo #11) is a structure of elaborate

v Victorian Second Empire Style architecture with Italian influence. The
exterior is of solid brick construction with stone trim and a slate roof.
Distinguishing features of the structure include a tower at the center of
the west elevation and a mansard roof. Following years of deterioration,
the Villa Marre was purchased by the present owner in 1964. Numerous
additions and alterations which had been made through the years were
corrected to coincide with the original design and construction. The Villa
Marre stands as an outstanding example of restoration and adaptive use.
It is a museum open for public tours and houses the offices of the Quapaw
pguarter Association.

Ancther representative of Second Empire architecture is the William

L. Terry House (Photo #12)_. Built in the 1880's, the house is an ell-
shaped, two-storey frame structure. A balustraded porch,supported by
Dravidian posts, bends around the east and north elevations of the
House. The house is enhanced by several interesting details. The house
is maintained as a residence.

The Welch-Cherry House (Photo #13) was constructed in 1884. The brick
structure features arched cut-stone window heads. A one-storey flat-roofed
porch on the east facade features a decorative cut-work railing and
supportive brackets, The structure remains in good condition and is

now adaptively used as apartments. -

The Mills House (Photo #14), another example of Second Empire architecture,
was constructed in 1883. The two-storey brick structure features dentiled,
bracketed cornices, drip-mold, segmental-arched window heads and steep-
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pitched gabled rooflines. T-shaped in layout, the house has been adapted
for use as a commercial photography studio.

Probably the most outstanding example of Second Empire architecture in the
MacArthur Park Historic District is the Lincoln House (Photo #15).
Completed in 1878 the heuse took six years to build. Features of note
are the bracketed cornices, irregular roofline and drip-mold, segmental
arched window heads. The home is still used as a residence and remains

in the Lincoln family.

The Karcher House (Photo #16), built circa 1879, is a two-storey, frame
structure reflective of Second Empire axrchitecture. A one-storey, flat-
roofed porch is an ell-shape covers the north elevations of the house.

The porch is supported by decorative bracketed posts which constitute the
only basic ormamental feature of the house. The house stood prey to fire
and vandalism for a number of months and in 1974 was marked for demolition.
The present owners restored the front section of the house as apartments
and painted the exterior its original colors. After knocking down the
damaged rear sections of the house, eight more apartments designed to
blend in with the original section of the house were added.

The Holtzman-Vinsonhaler Bouse (Photo $#17) was constructed ca. 1890 by

W. 0. Heltzman, a contractor,who built several homes in the Quapaw Quarter
area. In 1906 the house was remodeled by the Vinsonhaler family. At

this time the Colonial Revival porch was added and the house painted
vellow. The Boltzman-Vinsonhaler House is marked by various designs and
sizes of arched windows and by sgquared and rounded turrets. Restoration
of the house took place in the early 1970's for adaptation as apartments.
The exterior appears much the same as in 1906.

A significant example of Queen Anne architecture in the MacArthur Park
Historic District is the Chisum House (Photo #18), built in 189%4. It
embodies many of the Victorian period characteristics of irregular shape,
towers and multiple gables and bays and a variety of textural usage.

Of frame construction, the Chisum House features a multi-gable, high-hip
roof. The structure has been adapted to accommodate apartments.

The Hanger House (Photo #19), built in 1889, is a Queen Anne Victorian
style, two-storey, frame structure with a hip roof. A cone-storey porch
runs across the east elevation and around the south elevation to where

it intersects with a bay on that elevation. A Japanese "moongate" arch
graces the entry, which is located on the north end of the east elevation.
The exterior of the Hanger House is covered in narrow clapboard with
decorative bands of octagonal wood shingles above the porxrch roof, under
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the front gables and around the lower porticn of the bay windows. 1In 1972
the present owners purchased the Hanger House and have carefully restored
the structure to its original appearance. The exterior of the house has
been restored to its original colors, which are red and light brown.

Linking structures within the MacArthur Park Historic District generally
fall into the 1870 - 1890 period. BAn architecturally significant linking
structure in the area is located at 515 Rock Street {Photo #20). This
one-storey frame structure was constructed ca. 1870 and features decorative
brackets along cornice lines of the house and arched windows. Built in

the early 1880's as rent houses by the owner of Curran Hall, the structures
at 604 and 608 East 6th Street Street (Photo #21) are characterized by
scalloped shingling, decorative tuorned posts supporting the porticos and
steep-pitched gable roofs. Located at 908 and 904 Rock Street (Photo #22)
are two one-storey 1880's frame structures. The structure at 904 Rock
Street features a rounded portico on the northeast cormer with turned posts,
decorative brackets and spindlework. Ancother 188( Victorian structure with
decorative trim is located at 1302 Cumberland (Photo #24). Constructed

ca. 1890, the brick structure at 512 East Ninth Street (Photo #25) features
rounded corner turrets, elaborate stained glass and a variety of textural
components.

Two historically and architecturally significant churches stand in the area.
Located within three blocks of each other, these two structures are the
oldest churches in the district. The First Lutheran Church at 320 BEast
Eighth Street (Photo #26) was built ca. 1888. The brick structure is
Gothic in architectural style with a large bell tower on the southeast
coxner. St. Edward's Catholic Church at 823 Sherman (Photo #27) is

a Gothic style brick structure designed by prominent Arkansas architect
Charles L. Thompson.

Three historically and architecturally significant schools in the district
remain in use. Kramer Elementary School at BEighth and Sherman (Photo £28)
was constructed in 1895. It is the oldest public school building in Little
Rock. The building is of brick construction with stone trim around the
windows and at the foundation. Rodney Parham School at 15th and Vance
Streets (Photo #29) is a large brick structure of classical design. The
third school was constructed ca. 1900. Located at 1401 Scott (Photo #30)
the building was constructed as Little Rock High School. The west
elevation of the large brick structure is marked by an elaborate entry
featuring Corinthian columns. All three of these structures are still

/- used for educational purposes,
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Examples of compatible intrusions in the MacArthur Park Historic District
are the structure at 410 East Seventh (Photo #31) and the Arkansas Arts
Center in MacArthur Park {Photo #32). Incompatible intrusions include
Curberland Towers at 311 Bast Eighth {Photo #33) and Parkview Towers at
Eleventh and Commerce (Photo #34), both apartment buildings.
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Inventory of Historically or Architecturally Significant Structures
Located Within the MacArthur Park Historic District

l. Pike-=Fletcher-Texrry House (411 East Seventh) entered on the
National Register of Historic Places 8-21-72: Greek Revival, 2 2829
1/2" stories,: brick: construction; 1840.

2., Traprall Hall (423 Past Capitecl) entered on the National
Register 4-13-73: Greek Revival, 1 storey, brick construction; 5 a T
L5 s

1843.

3. Curran Hall (615 East Fifth) entered on the National Register -
1-1-76: Greek Revival, 1 storey, brick construction:; 1842, o BT

4, BAbsalom Fowler House (503 East Sixth) entered on the National .
Register 6~4-73: Greek Revival, 2 1/2 stories, brick 7o S
construction; 1840. . '

5. Cook House ({605 East Sixth): Greek Revival 1 storey, frame Tt
construction; c.l1860's.

6. Geyer House (523 East Seventh) Greek Revival, 1 storey, frame -y
construction; c.1850. v

7. 516 East Ninth, Greek Revival, 1 storey, frame construction; NG AT
c.1850. =T

8. Kadel Cottage (417 East Tenth) Greek Revival, 1 storey, frame . - - -y

construction; ¢.l859.

9. United States Arsenal Building {MacArthur Park, Ninth and
Commerce) entered on the National Register 4-17-70: Federxal,
2 storey with tower, brick constructien; 1840.

10. Garland-Mitchell House {l4th and Scott) entered on the National
Register 6~10-75: Second Empire (locally referrsd to as
"Steamboat Gothic"), 2 stories, frame construction; 1873,

1l. Vvilla Marre (1321 Scott) entered on the National Register
6~15-70: Second Empire with Italian influence, 2 stories,
brick construction; 188l.
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12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

1s8.

19,

William L. Texrry House (1422 Scott) entered on the National v
Register 1-1-76: Second Empire, 2 stories, frame construction; _
c. 1880. )

Welch—Cherry House (7th and Rock) Second Empire, 2 stories,
brick construction, 1884.

Mills House {523 East 6th)} Second Empire, 2 stories, brick
construction, 1883.

Lincoln House (7th and Cumberland) Second Empire, 2 stories,
brick construction; 1878. o

Karcher House (503 East 7th) Second Empire, 2 stories, frame
construction, ¢.1879.

Holtzman-vinsonhaler House (500 East 2th) Victorian, 2 1/2

stories, brick construction:; ¢.l1890. PR

Chisum House (1320 Cumberland) entered on the National Register
12~4-75: Q(ueen Anne Victorian, 2 1/2 stories, frame construc—
tion; 1894.

e

Hanger House (1010 Scott) entered on the National Register
3-15-74: Queen Anne Victorian, 2 1/2 stories, frame construc-
tion; 1889,
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MacArthur Park Historic District - Little Rock, Pulaski County, Arkansas
Paragraph 5 should be changed to the following:

The MacArthur Park Historiec District runs north/south along Ferry Street
from Fifth (Capitol) Street south to Ninth Street. At Ninth and Ferry
the line turns east to McGowan Street. The district then runs north/
south along McGowan to Thirteenth Street where it turns wést for one
block to McAlmont Street. From Thirteenth and Mcalmont the district
runs south to Sixteenth Street where it turns west for two blocks to
Bragg Street. At Bragg Street the district turns north for one block
to Fifteenth Street and turns west to run from Fifteenth Street to the
alley between Scott and Main Streets., The western boundary of the district
runs north/south along the alley between Scott and Main Streets from
Fifteenth Street to Ninth Street at which point it turns east for one-
and-one-half blocks to Cumberland where it again turns north to Fifth
Street where it turns east and extends to Ferry Street.
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MacArthur Park Historic District - Little Rock, Pulaski County, Arkansas

The "Inventory of Historically and Architecturally Significant Structures Located
Within the MacArthur Park Historic District," Item 7, pages 7 and 8 is amended
to include the following:

20, Sowell Cottage (214 East 14th) transitional Greek Revival/Victorian, one
story, frame construction; c. 1868, This cottage originally served as a
- farm house prior to increased development of the area in the 1880's and
- 1890's when Scott and Cumberland Streets came to be considered quite
fashionable. It-wasconstructed-by Jason—Sowell, and later occupied by
Irma Culbert who married Charles Lincoln, a prominent Little Rock business-
man, The house was later owned by Oscar and Katie Chisum and Joe P. and
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Frozen in the heart of modern Little Rock is Victorian Little Rock, and
pivotal. to the Victorian section of the c¢city is the MacArthur Park
Historic District. With boundaries roughly following the city street
plan of East Capitol on the north, Main Street on.the West, Fifteenth.
Streset to the south and Interstate 30 on the east’ (see map for exact }
boundaries} , ~the MacArthur Park Historic Distiict is the oldast and most
historic, intact, residential neighborhood in Arkansas. Composed of
picturesque and often flamboyant antebellum and Victorian homes set along
tree-shaded streets, the district generates an atmospheric feeling for
historic time and place. Furthermore, much of Little Rock's development
between 1838 and 1900 can actually be seen in the old structures which
continue to stand in the neighborhood. The aesthetic ideals and social

- patterns of 19th century Little Rock came vividly to life in the MacArthur
Park Historic District where modexn intrusions, incompatible in scale and .
design with the older buildings have not yet marred the visual continuity
of the built and natural landscape.

Speculation and politics, as well as a favorable ‘gesgraphic location; were
the prime factors contrlbutlng to the settlement of Little Rock after 1819
In 182) Little Rock was made the Arkansas territorial capital; a detade
later the small town was incorporated. In 1838, two years after Little
Rock became the capital of the State of Arkansas, a United States Axserial’
was built on the thirty acres that now comprise MacArthur Park. One of
the original arsenal buildings, the.Tower Building (Photo #9), still stands
and is the oldest structure in the MachArthur Park Historic District. The
Tower Building is a two-storey, Federal style structure, which in 1880
was the birth site of General Douglas MacArthur. The United States
government relinquished the arsenal for perpetual use as a city park in
1893, and today MacArthur Park forms the nucleus and sets the atmosphere
of Little Rock's most historic residential district.

Early settlement in Little Rock took place along the Arkansas River, giving
the town an east-west oriéntation. However, by 1840 Little Rock was one

of the largest towns west of the Mississippi (population 1,531) and was
exwanding south from the river into the space included within the boundaries
of the MacArthur Park Historic Disttrict. A number of Greek Revival
mansions were constructed in the district around 1840. Several of these
large homes continuwe to grace the neighborhcood. The Absalom Fowler House
(Photo #4) was built by the successful lawyer and land speculator Absalom

Fowler in 1840, and is currently used as a Catholic nursery school.
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Frederick Trapnall, another lawyer and politician, built Trapnall Hall (Photo #2)
in 1843. One of the earliest attempted restorations found in the MacArthur

Park Historic Distirct, Trapnall Hall now serves as the official reception
center for -the State of Arkansas. The Pike-Fletcher-Terry House (Photo #1),
constructed in 1840, has housed two of Arkansas' most distinguished personages;
Albert Pike, lawyver, poet and Masonic philosopher and later John Gould

Fletcher, the only Arkansan who has won a Pulitzer Prize for literature.

Several other antebellum housezs are located in the district, making the
MacArthur Park Historic District one of the largest concentrations of pre-

Civil War buildings remaining in Arkansas.

Arkansas historian, Ira Don Richards} believes that the growth of Little
Rock before 1860 was hampered by three major economic drawbacks. First,
an efficient transportation network did not develop to serve the river city.
Cnly small durable steamers could ply the troublesome Arkansas River, and

! the railroad would not come to the town until after the Civil War. The

- major western trails which passed through Little Rock were more apt to funnel

settlers and adventurers to the fertile Red River Valley and the gold fields
of California than bring ¥h new permanent residents for the town. Secondly,
the city's financial system was primitive and could not provide the capital
needed for solid growth and development. Finally, the hinterland of Little
Rock was largely a virgin wilderness which did little to foster the city's
retail and export trade. These economic conditions are reflected in the
antebellum structures which survive within the MacArthur Park Historic
District; almost all were the homes of lawyers, men who could thrive on the
political life in town and who could make a profit off shrewd land invest-
ment in what essentially was a frontier region. Little Rock's emergence as
an important commercial center lay in the future.

A comparison of population figures for 1860 (3,727) and for 1870 (12,380)
gives some indication of the dramatic growth Little Rock experienced in the
wake of the Civil War. The population was enlarged by an incoming tide of
refugees and black freedmen. Alsc, many of the Union troops, who had spent
time in the city during its occupation, decided to make Little Rock their
new home. Easy credit, free spending and northern capital combined to
create a building boom which equalled the population increase.

The railroad (Memphis and Little Rock Railroad) came to the city in 1869,
Four years later the Arkansas River was spann:d with the impressive Baring
Cross Bridge, the city's first railway bridge. In May, 1869 over 100
. buildings, many of them brick, were under construction in Little Rock.
Much of the older town disappeared during this burst of building activity.
Charles Squier in the City Directory of 1872 informs us that "the dilapi-
dated structure of the original settler is fast giving way Lo spacious
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and lofty blocks of brick." While urbanity was a preduct of post-war Little
Rock, at least one feature associated with city life predated the sectional
conflict — - the city had installed its first street lights in 1860.

The population and econcmic booms of the late 1860's and early 1870's
accelerated the southward movement of the city. A pictorial map of Little
Rock in 1871, entitled "A Bird's Eye View of Little Rock" pictures impres-
sive, new Second Empire homes crowding the blocks of the MacArthur Park
Historic District as far south as Ninth Street. The economic upsurge of

this period is still chronicled through the grand Second Empire homes

which survive .in the district. The brick, two-storey Lincoln House (Photo #15)
built in 1872 - 1878 for wholesale druggist Charles Lincoln, perfectly
retains the decorative, exterior ornament which has made it a local showplace
for over a century. Noted architectural historian Fred Nichols believes

the Second Empire architecture of the Lincoln House to be of national signi-
ficance.? The Garland-Mitchell House (Photo #10), built in 1872 at what

then constituted the cutskirts of Little Rock at Scott and Fourteenth Streets,
is an excellent example of "Steamboat Gothic" architecture. The home has
quartered two governors of Arkansas, Augustus Garland and Charles Brough.

The one-storey, wood frame Cock House {Photo #5) was erected by 1871 and is

a fine example of a wvernacular cottage embellished with Second Empire trim.
The occupation of Mr. Cook reflects the ingreasing variety of services

found in Little Rock as it evolved into a city - - he was the town's first
full-time undertaker. Over 19 fine examples of Second Empire architecture
remain in the MacArthur Park Historic District. Many are well preserved as
is the case for the Lincoln House (Photo #15); others such as the Mills
House, now a photography studio located at 526 East Sixth (Photo #14) and

the Garland Mitchell House {Photo #10) (now divided into apartments) have

been ‘authentically restored for a variety of adaptive uses. All recall
Little Rock's post Civil War boom when the village capital of Arkansas began
to offer the diversity and assume the appearance of a city.

An over-extension of the city's economic resources coupled with the nation-

wide panic of 1872 temporarily curtailed Little Rock's rapid development.
However, several factors contributed to an economic wpsurging which brought about
even greater periods of growth and prosperity in the 1880's and 1890°s.

By the middle of the 1880's Little Rock was the hub of a rail network

which was beginning to efficiently connect the city with the rest of the

state. Meanwhile, the Arkansas frontier had heen pushed back before the

rapid expansion of agricultural, timber and mining industries. The rural

areas began to look down the newly laid railroad tracks to Little Rock as

their wholesale and distribution center. While never really suited for
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the role of a major cotton center, Little Rock did become the nation's
fourth largest inland cotton market during this period. 1In reality the
retail and wholesale business formed the backbone of the city's economy.
The regional character of the city increased when Little Rock became the
home for the branch offices of many of the nation's leading firms.

By the early 1880°'s the entire area enclosed within the bomndaries of the
MacArthur Park Historic District (except the arsenal grounds) was a formal
grid of streets along which were clustered closely-packed Victorian homes. >
The scene has changed little over the last ninety years. 2A passage from

The Commercial and Statistical Review of Little Rock Arkansas (1883) provides
an atmospheric if somewhat flowery description of residential neighborhoods
in the city:

"The streets are broad and are bordered on either side with
handsome shade trees, while lovely cottages and splendid
residences greet the eye on every hand. The cottages are...
nestled each among the trees and flowering plants...with
pretty wverandas and tastefully corniced gables, smiling
through the leaves in bright clean dress...The more stately
residences and their private park surroundings express the
highest development of art and culture.”

This quéte not only provides an attractive description of the city's
residential neighborhoods, but also makes a fundamental statement about

the sccial patterns which existed in those neighborhoods - — in this instance,
the MacArthur Park Historic Distrxict. Simply put, the city was still rural
and informal enough to accept the people of different classes living within
the confines of one neighborhood. The scale of houses in the MacArthur Park
Historic District ranges from huge two—storey Queen Anne mansions to

small Victorian and vernacular cottages. Occupationally, banker and baker
could be found on the same block, and socially, descendants of the town's
founding fathers would live next to German immigrants and ex—Union men. >
Although Cumberland and Scott Streets could be said to have formed an elite
district, the MacArthur Park Historic District, as a whole, formed a
neighborhood that represented a variety of occupational and social classes.

One of the numerous remaining houses which date from the last gquarter of
the 12%th century is the Villa Marre {Photo #11). It is a two-storey,
richly detailed, Second Empire home which was built in 1881 bv Angelo
’ Marre, an active member of one of Little Rock's most promising professions,
— saloon keeping. Today the fully restored Villa Marre is the headguarters
of the Quapaw Quarter Association, Little Rock's most active local
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preservation organization. The Robert Butler House (Photo #35) is a
small Victorian cottage at 609 Rock Street which was built by printer
Robert Butler in 1888. In 1889 a magnificent Queen Anne mansion was
built by cotton planter and gin owner Frederick Banger (Photo #19) on
Scott Street. In contrast, two small rent houses were constructed at
604 and 608 East Sixth in the late 1880's or early 1890's {(Photo #21).

The MacArthur Park Historic District experienced its maximum period of
development as a residential district around the vear 1900. Meanwhile
Little Rock was rapidly expanding to the south and southwest of the
MacArthur Park neighborhood. The newer residential areas, such as the
tract housing located south of the MacArthur Park area and the elite
mansions of the Broadway Street district being built to the southwest of
the MacArthur Park Historic District, were characterized by a more clear-
cut delineation of neighborhoods based along economic and class lines. In
1907 the hilly country to the west of Little Rock, known as Pulaski Heights,
was opened up for development, beginning the westward expansion of the city.
The MacArthur Park Historic District was overshadowed by the new residential
neighborhocds, and sank into an era of decline and neglect. Ironically,

the populaxity of the newer areas may have been the proverbial blessing in
disguise, because it saved the MacArthur Park Historic District from
extensive redevelopiment.

The Tower Building and the Pike-Fletcher-Terry House are among the few
buildings in the MacArthur Park Historic District that have long been
recognized as being local historic landmarks. Unfortunately, Little ’
Rockians (in company with most of the rest of the nation) have only recently :
developed the wisdom and awareness concerning historic districts that is
illustrated in the following statement by noted preservationist Dr. William
J. Murtagh: '

"While pivotal structures tend to survive, when sole
emphasis is placed upon (noted} historic structures,
their sense of time and place is lost if the lesser,
connecting, average or anonymous historical structures
are destroyed."

Luckily, so far, the MacArthur Park Historic District has escaped major
damage to ite historic and atmospheric integrity. While the fabric remains
intact, a number of intrusions dot the district. In the 1920's and the
1930’'s several small brick, two-storey apartment buildings were erected on
the northern fringe of the district. These structures are compatible with
the historic buildings in both scale and material of construction (brick});
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therefore they do not harm the visual quality of the district. In the 1960's
and early 1970's four high-rise apartment buildings were built in the district.
Their size, design and overall appearance make these apartment buildings some
of the few obtrusive intrusions in the neighborhood. In the early 1960's
Interstate 20 intruded into the eastern portion of the Macarthur Park
Historic District and not only isolated the district from a historic sister
neighborhood which lies to the east of the freeway but also destroyed the
continuous harmonious historic residential atmosphere. Another freeway

route is planned to pass through the southerm section of the MacArthur Park
Historic District. Already, a two-block-wide swath of housing has been
cleared for the freeway, leaving behind a tree-ccvered open space which is
now, ironically, compatible with the aesthetic sensibilities expressed by
Victorians. Several incompatible business structures are located on the
periphery of the district. An expansive business district, which borders

the northern and western boundaries of the MacArthur Park neighborhood,
coupled with non-protective zoning and the impending freeway constitute the
major threats to the present integrity of the district. While as Italian
preservaticnist, G. C. Argon, has written "preservayion is not always
compatible with the growing needs of the present,” it should be kept in
mind that "there is no sensible contradiction between wishing to spare good
buildings and being a protagonist of contemporary architecture” and
having growth and development in an area.

Once the historic significance of the MacArthur Park Historic District is
defined, a more subtle and subjective problem arises. What are the aesthetic
and atmospheric qualities that make the MacArthur Park Historic District

much more than the sum of its parts? The variety found in the Greek

Revival and Victorian architecture; the lush green open spaces; a scale
which is human enough to invite personal involvement; and the sense of
communion with an ongoing past all contribute to the district's pervasive
feeling of beauty and atmosphere. It has been said that without ocur old
neighborhoods "we 3re perpetual juveniles starting over and over, a people
without a memory,"  and art critic Paul N. Perrot believes that "for a

sense of place to survive, interdependence among historic buildings is
essential.” Perhaps inwardly, the feeling of poetic fulfillment, which

stems from the discovery of worn, brick sidewalks, venerable trees, inviting
lawns, and incredibly picturesque homes, schools and churches,together
forming a complete landscape that wasg created 100 years ago,adds value to the
MacArthur Park Historic District. While not "draped in the majesty of
centuries," as Plutarch described the temples on the acropolis, the MacArthur
Park Historic District does possess a subtle refinement which only seems to
accrue with the passing of years, and is, indeed, unique in the State of
Arkansas.
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Value judgments concerning the overall worth of the historic properties
composing the MacArthur Park Historic District are changing for the better
in Little Rock. Communication has been the key factor in transforming

the attituvdes of private citizens and business and governmental interests
from that of apathy to one of burgeoning preservation consciousness. The
leading voice for historic preservation in Little Rock has been the Quapaw
Quarter Association. Formed in 1961, "the basic purpose of the Quapaw
Quarter Association is to encourage_restoration and preservation of archi-
tecturally significant structures.” For a number of years the Quapaw
Quarter Association has publicized the preservation of historic Little Rock
though its informative and well~written bi-monthly newspaper, The Quapaw
Quarter Chronicle. The Associationdlsopresents special plaques to buildings
which exhibit outstanding architectural or historical character. Recently,
at the reguest of the Quapaw Quarter Association, the Little Rock City Beoard
of Directors voted to create a city Historic District Commission with powers
to establish a historic district that roughly covers the same area as the
MacArthur Park Historic District.

Other civic and business organizations have demonstrated a willingness to
cooperatza with and to help promote historic preservation in Little Rock.
For example, Little Rock Unlimited Progress, a downtown promotional organi-
zation; Old Town Properties, a private partnership investing in the area;
and Neighborhood Housing Services, a partnership among federal goverment,
city government and local private interests; are all sensitive to the goals
of historic preservation. Furthermore, fully a dozen major adaptive
restorations in the MacArthur Park Historic District house the offices of
Little Rock professionals, most of this phenomenal activityoccurring within
the last two years.

Finally, individual citizens are actively conducting a large number of
private restoration projects in the MachArthur Park Historic District. The
size and uniqueness of the homes in the area, an interest in the historic
preservation and restoration of houses, and the idea of developing a down-—
town community are some of the factors which have drawn dozens of "urban
homesteaders" into the MacArthur Park neighborhood. 1L

Intertwined with the history of 19th century Little Rock, the MacArthur

Park Historic District is a residential neighborhoed, unsurpassed in

Arkansas for ag: and unbroken viswal continuity. Reflecting the social
patterns of earlier generations, the district is currently the scene of a

new social phenomenon; it is the object of a historic preservation movement
which embraces a wide variety of private, business and governmental interests.
Most importantly, the virtual completeness of the MacArthur Park Historic
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District, in terme of significant historic structures, less significant but
equally historic linking structures and important historic landscape features,
evokes subtle atmosphere which brings the past to life.

Footnotes
1. Dr. Ira Don Richards is the source used in this article for economic

10.

11.
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MacArthur Park Historic District - Little Rock, Pulaski County, Arkansas
Verbal Boundary Déscription should be changed to the following:

The MacArthur Park Historie District ruvns north/sounth along Ferry Street
from Fifth (Capitol) Street scuth to Ninth Street. A%t Ninth and Ferry
the line turns east to McGowan Street. The district then runs north/
south along McGowan to Thirteenth Street where it turns west for one
block to McAlmont Street. TFrom Thirteenth and McAlmont the district
runs south to Sixteenth Street where it turns west for two blocks to
Bragg Street. At Bragg Street the district turns north for one block

to Fifteenth Street and turns west to run from Fifteenth Street to the
alley between Scott and Main Streets. The western boundary of the district
rung north/south along the.alley between Scott and Main Streets from
Fifteenth Street to Ninth Street at which point it turns east for one-
and-one-half blocks t¢ Cumberland where it again turns north to Fifth
Street where it turns east and extends to Ferry Street
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